IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

RALPH COPPOLA, Trustee of the R.S. Coppola Trust dated October 19, 1995 as most recently Amended on September 13, 2001,

Appellant,

v.

WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A. and NATIONAL DEFAULT SERVICES,

Respondents.

No. 81007

Electronically Filed Jul 26 2021 03:58 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

On appeal from the Second Judicial District Court from an order dismissing a petition and denying the imposition of sanctions in a foreclosure mediation program matter

LEGAL AID CENTER OF SOUTHERN NEVADA, INC.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This appeal under NRAP 3A(b)(1) is from a final order by the Second Judicial District Court dismissing a petition and denying the imposition of sanctions in a foreclosure mediation program matter. On March 10, 2020, the district court entered its *Order (1) Denying Verified Petition for Judicial Review and (2) Granting Respondent's Request for Appropriate Relief.* 15 ROA 1082. Notice of entry of the district court's order was given on March 11, 2020. 15 ROA 1095. Appellant timely filed his *Notice of Appeal* on April 7, 2020. 15 ROA 1119.

ROUTING STATEMENT

Under NRAP 17(b)(15), this appeal from an order in a foreclosure mediation program matter is presumptively assigned and should be heard by the Court of Appeals.

ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Did the district court abuse its discretion in finding that a homeowner who stipulates to a waiver of the requirement that a beneficiary provide an appraisal within 10 days of mediation also waives their ability to challenge the appraisal, and does not require the beneficiary to disclose the appraisal as would otherwise be required under FMR 13(7)(f) when that appraisal is used as the basis for negotiations in mediation?
- II. Did the district court abuse its discretion in finding that a beneficiary complies with FMR 13(10) when the beneficiary orally discloses for the first time at mediation a short sale value that is

- more than the appraised value of the home but less than the amount due under the note?
- III. Did the district court abuse its discretion by failing to address in its final order whether or not a beneficiary complied with the rules by timely disclosing the note, deed of trust, and assignments?
- IV. Did the district court abuse its discretion in finding that a beneficiary whose purported representatives at mediation did not present evidence of their authority at mediation to either represent the beneficiary or negotiate a loan modification meet the requirements of FMR 12(1)(a)?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant initiated this foreclosure mediation case in the district court by filing a *Petition for Foreclosure Mediation Assistance* in response to a notice of default. 2 ROA 1. On August 9, 2018, Respondents filed their answer to the petition. 2 ROA 32. On August 13, 2018, the district court assigned a mediator. 2 ROA 50.

The mediator scheduled an exchange of documents conference for September 10, 2018. 2 ROA 55. She also scheduled a mediation for November 15, 2018. 2 ROA 57.

On January 4, 2019, the district court ordered the mediator to file a Mediator's Statement or joint report advising of any new mediation date and the reasons for the mediation continuing beyond the time period specified in FMR 15(2) within 15 days. 2 ROA 61-62.

The mediator did not file anything in response to the order.

On January 28, 2019, the district court ordered the mediator to show cause why the mediator should not be held in contempt for failing to comply with its prior order. 2 ROA 66.

On February 15, 2019, the mediator submitted a *Stipulation and Order for Continuance of Mediation* signed by the parties. 2 ROA 73. The stipulation noted that the mediation scheduled for December 19, 2018 did not take place due to a medical emergency. 2 ROA 73.

On February 15, 2019, the district court entered an order granting a continuance. 2 ROA 78. In doing so, the district court directed the mediation to commence within 45 days of the order. 2 ROA 79.

On March 7, 2019, the parties participated in mediation. 3 ROA 85.

On March 17, 2019, the mediator filed a Mediator's Statement. 3 ROA 83.

On March 27, 2019, Respondents filed a request for appropriate relief asking the district court to dismiss the petition with prejudice under FMR 20(2) because they argued that they complied with the rules. 3 ROA 97.

On March 28, 2019, Appellant filed a petition for judicial review arguing, among other things, that Respondents failed to participate in mediation in good faith and requesting sanctions. 6 ROA 245.

After briefing, the parties each requested that their respective requests be submitted for decision. 15 ROA 1073; 15 ROA 1077.

On March 10, 2020, the district court entered its Order (1) Denying Verified Petition for Judicial Review and (2) Granting Respondent's Request for Appropriate Relief. 15 ROA 1082. The district court found that Respondents complied with the rules, and that Appellant did not demonstrate sanctions were warranted. 15 ROA 1090–91. Notice of

entry of the district court's order was given on March 11, 2020. 15 ROA 1095. Appellant timely appealed. 15 ROA 1119.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Over 21 years ago, Appellant purchased his home at 4785 Rio Pinar Drive, Reno, NV 89509. 6 ROA 247. In January 2006, he obtained a loan from World Savings Bank, FSB secured by his property. 2 ROA 6.

On May 21, 2018, National Default Servicing Corporation recorded a *Notice of Default and Election to Sell Under Deed of Trust*. 2 ROA 6. The notice referenced a *Deed of Trust* dated January 24, 2006 in favor of World Savings Bank, FSB and/or assigns as beneficiary, and recorded on January 31, 2006. 2 ROA 6. The note secured by the *Deed of Trust* was for \$612,000. 2 ROA 6.

The notice claimed a default as of March 23, 2009. 2 ROA 6.

The affidavit accompanying the notice lists Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. as the current servicer, beneficiary of the *Deed of Trust*, and holder of the note. 2 ROA 10.

In response to the notice, Appellant filed his *Petition for Foreclosure Mediation Assistance* on June 25, 2018 with the district court. 2 ROA 1.

On August 9, 2018, Respondents filed their answer to the petition. 2 ROA 32.

The district court assigned a mediator. 2 ROA 50. The mediator scheduled a mediation for November 15, 2018. 2 ROA 57. But the mediation did not occur then.

On February 15, 2019, the mediator submitted a *Stipulation and* Order for Continuance of Mediation signed by the parties. 2 ROA 73. The stipulation noted that the mediation scheduled for December 19,

2018 did not take place due to a medical emergency. 2 ROA 73. The parties further agreed that Respondents did not need to produce a new Broker's Prior Opinion or Appraisal before the next hearing because the continued hearing would not take place more than 75 days later. 2 ROA 73.

On February 15, 2019, the district court entered an order granting the continuance. 2 ROA 78. The district court directed the mediation to commence within 45 days of the order. 2 ROA 79.

On March 7, 2019, the parties participated in mediation. 3 ROA 85.

On March 17, 2019, the mediator filed a Mediator's Statement. 3 ROA 83. The statement notes that Respondents failed to provide an appraisal or BPO within 60 days as required by NRS 645.2515. 3 ROA 87. It also states that Respondents did not bring a short sale document in accordance with the rules. 3 ROA 87. The mediator wrote:

Due to the extension of the mediation date, parties had agreed that the lender would not be required to submit a new appraisal.

However, Lender did obtain a new appraisal, this appraisal was not made available to the Mediator or to the Homeowner. It was indicated at the mediation that the Lender had used the new appraisal as part of the process to evaluate the Homeowner for a modification. One day prior to mediation Homeowner was notified of the denial of the modification.

At the mediation the short sale amount given by the Lender, was not based on the new appraisal amount which according to the Lender, was considerably less than the prior appraisal. Short sale amount would be considerably higher than the latest appraisal, which then would not be a short sale.

3 ROA 86.

The mediator marked that Wells Fargo did not bring to mediation an appraisal or short sale document in accordance with the rules. 3 ROA 87. She did not recommend sanctions. 3 ROA 87. The mediator did recommend the petition be dismissed. 3 ROA 93.

Appellant and Respondents then filed separate requests for relief based on the Mediator's Statement. 3 ROA 97; 6 ROA 245.

On March 27, 2019, Respondents filed a request for appropriate relief asking the district court to dismiss the petition with prejudice under FMR 20(2) because they argued they complied with the rules. 3 ROA 97. In support, Respondents stated that Stephen Wassner, an attorney, appeared for respondents at the mediation, and that the beneficiary made Joshua Ring available by phone. 3 ROA 98. Respondents disagreed with the mediator that they failed to provide a timely appraisal or a short sale value in accordance with the rules. 3 ROA 98. Respondents claimed the mediator was confused over their myriad denial letters—that a November 30, 2018 denial letter was not received by Appellant until the day prior to the mediation, not that the beneficiary denied a modification the day before. 3 ROA 98. Respondents also claimed that they provided a short sale proposal. 3 ROA 100. But the exhibit in support of the contention did not contain any information about a short sale. 4 ROA 159–62.

Respondents complained that the *Mediator's Statement* contained errors. 3 ROA 102. They alleged Appellant received a short sale

proposal in November 2018 and that the appraisal used for the denial was the one previously provided. 3 ROA 102. Thus they said that they complied with the rules and were entitled to dismissal. 3 ROA 103.

On March 28, 2019, Appellant filed a petition for judicial review. 6 ROA 245. He argued that a dispute over payment began over 10 years ago after Wells Fargo acquired the mortgage from World Savings Bank. 6 ROA 246. According to Appellant, Respondents changed the terms of the loan and required him to pay an amount different than agreed. 6 ROA 246. Respondents then refused to accept the correct amount. 6 ROA 246. Appellant requested relief because Respondents (1) failed to attend the mediation in person or through a representative; (2) failed to provide a short sale value; (3) provided a flawed appraisal; (4) failed to maximize the net present value of the property; and (5) failed to provide the loan documents at the mediation. 6 ROA 255–59, 261.

Appellant asserted Wells Fargo failed to have someone with authorization attend the mediation because the attorney only had an authorization by an undated letter from Tiffany & Bosco, P.A.—not Wells Fargo—which was not submitted within 10 days of the mediation. 6 ROA 255.

Appellant pointed to the Mediator's Statement that noted that Respondents did not present a short sale value. 6 ROA 256.

Appellant complained of problems with the appraisals provided by Wells Fargo. 6 ROA 256. He stated that the mediator ordered an interior appraisal be conducted, but that Wells Fargo only conducted an exterior appraisal. 6 ROA 256. He acknowledged the agreement among the parties in which he waived the requirement for a new appraisal. 6 ROA 256. Importantly, though, Appellant noted that he did not waive

the requirement if Wells Fargo elected to perform a new appraisal, in which case the new appraisal would need to be furnished to him prior to mediation. 6 ROA 256.

Appellant noted that the mediator found during the mediation that Wells Fargo had relied upon the new appraisal in denying a loan modification—a denial that occurred on appeal the day prior to mediation. 6 ROA 257. On March 4, 2019, the appraiser faxed to Wells Fargo the updated second appraisal. 6 ROA 257. The second appraisal gave an appraised value of \$540,000—about \$75,000 less than the first appraisal. 6 ROA 257. Even though Wells Fargo did not disclose the second appraisal prior to mediation, it relied on it at the mediation. 6 ROA 257.

Appellant took issue with the second appraisal because it did not take into account several existing conditions that affected the value of the property, including: a 45-year-old roof that leaks and needs replacement; the lack of any flooring in the master bathroom; old carpeting in the master bedroom; foundation cracking and settling that would cost \$50,000 to repair; a front door in need of replacement; an unfinished guest bathroom; an inoperable geothermal heating system; a dated kitchen with several broken cabinet doors; the need for painting inside and outside; and generally a need to update the house. 6 ROA 257–58. He also pointed out that a recent comparable sale in the neighborhood for \$459,300 was not used. 6 ROA 258.

Finally, Appellant noted that Wells Fargo failed to maximize the net present value. 6 ROA 259. Appellant provided Wells Fargo two sets of tax returns: one prepared while he was on pain killers, and a second, more accurate set. 6 ROA 259. He also provided Wells Fargo four

months of bank statements for income of at least \$4,500 per month; signed lease agreements; and evidence of his social security disability benefits. 6 ROA 259. In spite of providing this information, Wells Fargo did not perform any net value calculation. 6 ROA 259.

Appellant also took issue with the mediator's statement for the mediator's failure to explain her reasoning and failure to discuss alternative mortgage relief programs. 6 ROA 259–61. He noted that the mediator failed to indicate whether or not the parties participated in good faith. 6 ROA 260. Due to these failings, he urged the district court not to follow the mediator's recommendation to dismiss the petition. 6 ROA 260.

Instead, Appellant requested that the district court sanction Respondents for their bad faith and failure to comply with the required disclosures and other failings. 6 ROA 261–63. In doing so, he requested that the district court impose: monetary sanctions, a prohibition against Respondents conducting a foreclosure until Appellant reached age 62 ½ so that he could refinance the loan through a reverse mortgage, setting aside the present foreclosure, and requiring Respondents to produce the original note. 6 ROA 262-63.

Wells Fargo responded to the petition for judicial review on July 1, 2019. 7 ROA 455. It argued that no sanctions should issue as supported by the mediator's recommendation. 7 ROA 456. Wells Fargo pointed out that, in spite of the waiver, it made an effort to obtain a new appraisal. 7 ROA 460. But, due to Appellant's health issues, the appraiser did not

¹Wells Fargo took issue with the delays, which were mutually agreed to, due to Appellant's health concerns. Respondents do not seriously contend that Appellant's medical situation, which required

view the property until February 26, 2019—less than 10 days before the March 7, 2019 mediation. 7 ROA 460. Wells Fargo claimed that due to the time limits imposed by the rules it elected to use the prior appraisal. 7 ROA 460.

The response noted that Appellant objected at the mediation to Wells Fargo's failure to disclose the second appraisal. 7 ROA 457. Wells Fargo characterized this objection as "nonsensical" because Wells Fargo was unable to conduct the second appraisal more than 10 days prior to the continued mediation date due to Appellant's delay in making the property available. 7 ROA 461. And Wells Fargo claimed that it did not use the second appraisal to evaluate Appellant for a loan modification, thus ensuring that there was no violation of its obligation to provide the appraisal more than 10 days before the mediation. 7 ROA 461. Wells Fargo argued that the mediator's findings—that Wells Fargo's evaluation was flawed because it used the second appraisal in evaluating Appellant for a loan modification and failed to disclose the second appraisal—were incorrect. 7 ROA 461. Wells Fargo claimed that it could not have used the second appraisal as the basis for its denial of a loan modification three months earlier, and Appellant had waived the new appraisal anyway. 7 ROA 461.

More specifically, Wells Fargo argued that it participated in the mediation in good faith through a representative with authority, and exchanged all required documents per Rule 13(7). 7 ROA 462. Wells Fargo noted first that the mediator's statement indicates that its employee Josh Ring participated via phone for the duration of the

hospitalization, were fabricated to cause delay. See 11 ROA 726–36; 13 ROA 972 (detailing Appellant's conditions).

mediation; that the mediator did not check any box indicating that the beneficiary failed to attend or that its representative failed to demonstrate authority; and that Wells Fargo appeared in person through Tiffany & Bosco's local appearance counsel, Stephen Wassner, which was timely authorized in writing. 7 ROA 462.

Second, Wells Fargo argued that it complied with its document production requirements, and that Appellant put it in an impossible position with regard to the two appraisals. 7 ROA 464, 466. According to Wells Fargo, Appellant was dissatisfied that the first appraisal valued the property too high to qualify as a proper basis for a short sale, and the second appraisal's lower value did not comport with his idea of what challenges existed in selling the home. 7 ROA 466. Wells Fargo also argued that Appellant changed the terms of his waiver, claiming at mediation that although he waived the requirement for a second appraisal, he did not waive the right to require its production should Wells Fargo obtain one. 7 ROA 465. Wells Fargo did admit that it failed to provide a hard copy of the second appraisal at the mediation, but that it nevertheless complied with Rule 13(7)(f) by producing the first appraisal, relying on it to evaluate him for a loan modification, and obtaining a waiver for the second appraisal. 7 ROA 467.

Third, Wells Fargo maintained that its failure to provide a short sale value was due to Appellant's failure to perform a condition precedent: to provide the documents necessary for Wells Fargo to evaluate a short sale. 7 ROA 467. Wells Fargo requested these documents, but Appellant did not comply in violation of Rule 13(3), which provides that the homeowner "shall use his or her best effort to submit the required documents in his or her possession to the mediator and the beneficiary

of the deed of trust within 15 days. The homeowner should also begin the process to obtain required documents not in his or her possession." 7 ROA 467–68.

Finally, Wells Fargo refuted Appellant's other contentions in his petition for judicial review. First was the argument that Wells Fargo did not maximize net present value in considering Appellant for a loan modification at the mediation. 7 ROA 468. According to Wells Fargo, this has no bearing on Wells Fargo's good faith participation in the mediation, and Appellant admits that the denial was due to discrepancies in the two sets of tax returns he provided. 7 ROA 468.

Second, Wells Fargo contended that regardless of whether Appellant is right or wrong about the mediator's failures—*i.e.*, to present other programs that he may have qualified for, to provide a reason for her decision, and to make a finding of good or bad faith by either party—these do not form a basis for sanctioning Wells Fargo. 7 ROA 468, 469.

Third, Wells Fargo claimed that it did provide the loan documents at the mediation, as shown by the mediator's statement, which did not check the box indicating that Wells Fargo failed to bring the note, deed of trust, and certifications of the originals. 7 ROA 469.

On July 3, 2019, Appellant filed a response to Respondents' request for appropriate relief. 11 ROA 713. He argued that Respondents did not meet all criteria for a certificate of foreclosure to issue. 11 ROA 713. Specifically, they failed to provide the required documentation, including a short sale proposal. 11 ROA 715. Appellant pointed out that Respondents' Exhibit E-1 to the Request for Appropriate Relief was not actually a short sale proposal but simply a letter dated October 17, 2018. 11 ROA 715.

Appellant next argued that Wells Fargo demonstrated bad faith by providing a short sale estimate orally at the mediation that was in excess of both appraisals. 11 ROA 716. Further, Wells Fargo acted in bad faith by providing denials from prior mediations in which it did not prevail. 11 ROA 716. And Appellant argued that Wells Fargo was dishonest in the facts it presented about the loan modification denial. 11 ROA 716. On the one hand, Wells Fargo claimed that the denial was sent in November 2018, but on the other hand, it admitted that Appellant was notified of the denial one day prior to mediation. 11 ROA 717.

Lastly, Appellant cited another example of Wells Fargo's bad faith in that it failed to take seriously his life-threatening health issues. 11 ROA 717.

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