Case No. 81007

In the Supreme Court of the State of Nevada Electronically Filed

RALPH STEPHEN COPPOLA, TRUSTEE OF THE R.S. COPPOLA TRUST DATED OCTOBER 19, 1995 AS MOST RECENTLY AMENDED ON SEPTEMBER 13, 2001, Electronically Filed Oct 06 2021 05:23 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

vs.

WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A.,

Respondent.

APPEAL

From the Second Judicial District Court The Honorable Kathleen Drakulich District Court Case No. CV1801272

ANSWERING BRIEF

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

"A short sale is a real estate transaction in which the property serving as collateral for a mortgage is sold for less than the outstanding balance on the secured loan, and the mortgage lender agrees to discount the loan balance because of a consumer's economic distress." *Shaw v. Experian Info. Sols., Inc.,* 891 F.3d 749, 752 (9th Cir. 2018); *see also Rex v. Chase Home Fin. LLC,* 905 F. Supp. 2d 1111, 1119 (C.D. Cal. 2012) (citing The Law of Real Estate Financing § 12:10, Short sales) (holding that a "short sale" is the voluntary sale of mortgaged property by the
borrower where the borrower "secures the agreement of the [lender] to release the mortgage upon a bona fide sale to a third party for an agreed upon price below the mortgage loan balance."). In other words, the "very definition of a short sale" is where the lender is "legally paid in full for less than the full balance." *Shaw*, 891 F.3d at 757.

As such, what is essential to a short sale is that the amount the lender agrees to accept is less than the amount owed – not the amount of the appraised value of the property. *See id.* While a property's appraised value may provide insight as to the amount a prospective purchaser might pay for property, the focus of a short sale estimate is the amount the lender is owed.

Here, it is undisputed that the short sale value Wells Fargo provided to Mr. Coppola at the mediation³ was less than the loan balance at the time of the mediation. The unpaid principal balance on the loan as of the mediation date was \$649,201.93. 7 ROA 505. Moreover, the

³ Attorney Coppola previously stated in his moving papers that "Wells Fargo proposed a short sale amount of over \$640,000." But whether the short sale value was \$620,000 or \$640,000 is irrelevant to the discussion of whether the amount would constitute a short sale, given the undisputed fact that Wells Fargo was owed well in excess of \$700,000 at the time of the mediation.

Mortgage Loan History confirms that Wells Fargo had also advanced \$71,134.60 in escrow payments during Mr. Coppola's decade-long period of non-payment. 7 ROA 505. Without even considering the substantial additional amounts owed, to include mounting interest, late charges, and other fees, the unpaid principal balance and the escrow advances total \$720,336.53. As such, Wells Fargo's proposal to accept \$620,000 constitutes a short sale as a matter of law.

2. The Rules Do Not Require, and Could Not Properly Require, Wells Fargo to Offer a Short Sale Value that Is Less than the Appraised Value.

Mr. Coppola argues that the district court "failed to take into account that the short sale value was more than either of the appraisals," which in his view means that the short sale value "was illusory and made in bad faith even if it meets the definition of short sale." AOB 29. Finally, Mr. Coppola urges this Court to "hold that a beneficiary does not meet its obligation of good faith when it sets a short sale value that is more than the home's appraised value...." AOB 29. The Court should decline this invitation to judicially amend FMR 13(10).

First, the district court did not "fail to take into account that the short sale value was more than ... the appraisals," but rather confronted that point directly and held explicitly that "Petitioner has failed to cite any authority for the proposition that the \$620,000 figure was legally invalid because it was more than the appraised value of the home." 15 ROA 1090. The district court applied the plain language of the Rule – that a short sale "must be for less than the amount owed rather than the appraised value of the Property." 15 ROA 1090. The district court's ruling was legally sound and supported by substantial evidence, particularly as nothing in the Rules governs the amounts of short sale values.

The Court should decline to judicial amend FMR 13(10) to add the requirement that a short sale value must be no higher than a home's appraised value. To start, that requirement is not in the Rule, in any form. The Court's "duty is to interpret the statute's language; this duty does not include expanding upon or modifying the statutory language because such acts are the Legislature's function." *Williams v. United Parcel Servs.*, 129 Nev. 386, 391–92, 302 P.3d 1144, 1147 (2013). To add this requirement to the Rule would violate this longstanding directive.

In addition to violating canons of statutory interpretation, expansively interpreting FMR 13(10) to set maximum values on short sale offers would run afoul of the Contracts Clause and Takings Clause of both the Nevada and United States Constitutions by depriving beneficiaries of their contractual rights to payment. *See, e.g., Louisville Joint Stock Land Bank v. Radford*, 295 U.S. 555 (1935) (striking down as unconstitutional a law that took banks' security interest in their collateral by preventing them from obtaining full repayment); *W.B. Worthen Co. v. Kavanaugh*, 295 U.S. 56 (1935) (striking down an Arkansas law diluting the rights and remedies of mortgage bondholders by extending the time required to enforce payment, increasing the time from default to sale, and taking possession of the property during the redemption period because it lacked protections for lenders and impaired their contractual rights).

Finally, Mr. Coppola has declared, in no uncertain terms, that he had no interest in exploring short sale options. 14 ROA 1029. Indeed, he made clear over the past decade that retaining the Property is his sole purpose, and that he has no interest in any non-retention options. 14 ROA 1042. As such, Wells Fargo's short sale value is immaterial to Mr. Coppola's position – he rejects the short sale option entirely. While Wells Fargo satisfied its obligations under FMR 13(10), to withhold a certificate based on the short sale value would violate the spirit of the program, which is "for the homeowner and lender to attempt to reach an agreement that avoids foreclosure, not to search for rule violations." *Cohan v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.*, No. 65636, 2015 WL 5773392, n.3 (Nev. Ct. App. Sept. 30, 2015).

III. The District Court Did Not Fail to Address Mr. Coppola's <u>Document Production Arguments.</u>

Mr. Coppola argues that the district court abused its discretion by declining to specifically address his claim that Wells Fargo failed to provide the documents required under FMR 13(7). The district court did not abuse its discretion by rejecting this claim as unsupported by the record or unpersuasive.

At the conclusion of its Order, the district court ruled:

This Court notes that based upon its findings, *Petitioner has* failed to make a requisite showing under any of the four avenues available under the holding in Pasillas to demonstrate either bad faith or a failure to bring the required documentation. As a result, Petitioner's request for sanctions is denied. As to the remainder of Petitioner's arguments, this Court finds them to either be unsupported by the record or unpersuasive.

15 ROA 1091 (emphasis added).

The district court's ruling is supported by substantial evidence regardless of Mr. Coppola's uncorroborated and self-serving assertion that none of the required documents were produced. As Mr. Coppola acknowledges, the mediator did not find that Wells Fargo failed to bring any of the documents required by FMR 13(7)(a) and (b). AOB 30; 3 ROA 87. The mediator did not indicate on her report that Wells Fargo failed to produce any documents, other than the appraisal and short sale value issues discussed above. 3 ROA 87.

Notably, with respect to other issues, Mr. Coppola argues that a mediator's "recitations of what occurred at the proceeding should be afforded deference in the absence of contrary evidence." AOB 23. Yet, where it suits him, he would prefer that the mediator's observations be disregarded. Regardless, the mediator's report reflects that these documents were provided. 3 ROA 87. Further, the earlier document exchange of all of the required documents supports that finding. 9 ROA 625-648, 10 ROA 649-95.

Moreover, as it is well-established under Nevada law that the documents required by FMR 13(7) must be produced, it would be a particularly unlikely oversight for the mediator to omit such a glaring

-34-

omission from her report. Indeed, as a repeat player in the foreclosure mediation program, surely Mr. Coppola would have made much of the existence of dispositive non-compliance with the Rules. *Goldstein v. Hanna*, 97 Nev. 559, 562, 635 P.2d 290, 292 (1981) (holding that assent or affirmation may be inferred from silence when the person remaining silent in good faith would have spoken). The district court's finding that Wells Fargo produced all of the required documents is supported by the substantial evidence of the mediator's report and document production and is not subject to reversal.

Finally, Mr. Coppola's unsupported and self-serving claim that the documents were not produced cannot support reversal. On appeal, Mr. Coppola argues that the mediator "overlooked marking those boxes because he says no documents were provided." AOB 30. His claim of "disputed facts" on appeal, however, cannot justify reversal.

Disregarding the highly deferential standard of review that applies to the district court's finding, Mr. Coppola complains that Wells Fargo did not provide additional evidence of its document production, such as a declaration. But the lack of duplicative evidence is not any basis to disturb the district court's finding, when it was already supported by

-35-

substantial evidence. Nor should Mr. Coppola's self-serving representations be given weight. While self-serving declarations are not per se inadmissible, the Court should give little to no weight to evidence that is "uncorroborated and self-serving." *Villiarimo v. Aloha Island Air, Inc.*, 281 F.3d 1054, 1061 (9th Cir. 2002); *In re Vaughn*, 558 B.R. 897, 900 (Bankr. D. Alaska 2016) (holding that a party's "declarations that are advantageous to the issue are viewed with suspicion and accorded little weight.").

The district court's finding that Wells Fargo produced the documents as required by FMR 13(7) was supported by substantial evidence and as such should not be disturbed on appeal.

IV. The District Court's Ruling that Wells Fargo Participated in Mediation Through Authorized Counsel and a Representative with Authority Was Supported by <u>Substantial Evidence.</u>

The district court correctly found that Joshua Ring is a Wells Fargo underwriter who had authority to modify the loan and participated in the mediation by telephone and Steven Wassner is an attorney who was also authorized to appear. It rejected Mr. Coppola's contention that Attorney Wassner lacked authority to attend the mediation and to negotiate a loan modification in conjunction with Mr. Ring. 15 ROA 1089-90, On appeal, Mr. Coppola renews his argument that Wells Fargo failed to participate in the mediation through authorized representatives because the written authority is insufficient and raises the novel and therefore waived argument that common law agency principles do not support a finding of authority. Each argument fails in turn.

A. Wells Fargo's Representatives at the Mediation Satisfied the Requirements of FMR 13(7)(d).

A deed of trust beneficiary may participate in FMP mediation directly or through a representative with proper authority to negotiate a loan modification. *Markowitz v. Saxon Special Servicing*, 129 Nev. 660, 668, 310 P.3d 569, 574 (2013) (citing NRS 107.086(5)). Specifically, NRS 107.086(5) requires that "[t]he beneficiary of the deed of trust or a representative shall attend the mediation," and "[i]f the beneficiary of the deed of trust is represented at the mediation by another person, that person must have authority to negotiate a loan modification on behalf of the beneficiary of the deed of trust or have access at all times during the mediation to a person with such authority." FMR 13(7)(d) requires documentation establishing that authority, providing:

If the beneficiary of the deed of trust is represented by a third party at the time of mediation, the third party must produce a copy of the agreement, or relevant portion thereof, which authorizes the third party to represent the beneficiary at the mediation and authorizes the third party to negotiate a loan modification on behalf of the beneficiary of the deed of trust.

Mr. Coppola argues that Attorney Wassner's in-person attendance and Mr. Ring's telephonic attendance did not satisfy this requirement because the written authorization Attorney Wassner supplied was insufficient and because neither had authority to modify the loan.

First, Mr. Coppola raises the spurious argument that Mr. Ring, a *Wells Fargo underwriter*, lacked authority to modify the loan. Mr. Coppola does not cite one fact in support of that remarkable contention, let alone any basis sufficient to overturn the district court's finding that, as a Wells Fargo underwriter and direct Wells Fargo employee, he had the requisite authority.

Mr. Coppola's complaints about Attorney Wassner's authority as meritless as they are hyper-technical. The gravamen of Mr. Coppola's argument is basically that Attorney Wassner provided an insufficient written authorization. The authorization provided:

Pursuant to NRS 107.086 the law firm of Tiffany & Bosco, P.A. is hereby authorized as required by statute number NRS 107.086(11) to act on behalf of the beneficiary of the deed of trust.

This authorization extends to all matter wherein Tiffany & Bosco, P.A. is employed by Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. as its counsel of record.

5 ROA 195. Attorney Wassner was Tiffany & Bosco's local appearance counsel. 14 ROA 1028.

Mr. Coppola argues that this is insufficient because Attorney Wassner did not have a letter directly from Wells Fargo specifically authorizing him to attend this particular mediation. The Opening Brief, however, does not include one piece of legal authority supporting that purported requirement, and the only case it does cite strongly supports Wells Fargo. Specifically, *Savage v. Deutsche Bank Nat'l Tr. Co.*, No. 72672-COA, 2019 WL 625701, at *1 (Nev. App. Feb. 12, 2019) forecloses Mr. Coppola's position on appeal.

Savage involved a multi-step chain of authority, which the Court of Appeals concluded validly conveyed the requisite authority to the attendee at the mediation. In *Savage*, the deed of trust beneficiary, Deutsche Bank, gave a limited power of attorney to Impac, its master servicer to "enforce" and "preserve" Deutsche Bank's interest in the deed of trust through "non-judicial foreclosure" and a non-exhaustive list of actions in furtherance thereof. Impac, in turn, gave authority to subservicer, Bank of America but provided that Bank of America could not "incur or agree to any liability or obligation" for Deutsche Bank. *Id.* at *2. Bank of America, in turn, provided authority to the law firm of Malcolm & Cisneros in terms almost identical to those here: "Pursuant to [NRS] 107.086(5) the law firm of [M & S] is hereby authorized as required by [NRS] 107.086(11)(c) to act on behalf of the beneficiary of the deed of trust." *Id.* Finally, just as here, the law firm authorized an attorney who was not a member of the firm to appear at the mediation on its behalf. *Id.* The Court of Appeals upheld every link of authorization in the *Savage* chain, finding that the district court did not abuse its discretion in concluding that the attorney attendee had the authority and appropriate documentation under NRS 107.086 and the applicable Rules.

Wells Fargo's case is even stronger and less complicated, where it provided authority directly to Tiffany & Bosco, who authorized Attorney Wassner to appear for it at the mediation, and where Attorney Wassner provided documentation of his authority to appear for Tiffany & Bosco and appeared in person alongside a Wells Fargo representative, underscoring his authority. There is no sound basis to disturb the district court's ruling on this record and under this law.

B. Coppola's Arguments Based on the Common Law of Agency Are Inapposite and Waived.

Applying common law principles of agency, the Opening Brief argues that to bind a principal, an agent must have actual or apparent authority, and here, Attorney Wassner had neither. Ans. Br. 35-37. As a preliminary matter, this argument is newly raised on appeal, and therefore has been waived and should be disregarded. *Nevada Power Co. v. Haggerty*, 115 Nev. 353, 365, 989 P.2d 870, 877 (1999) (recognizing that generally an issue not raised below cannot be raised for the first time on appeal). Further, this argument ignores the fact that Attorney Wassner appeared in conjunction with Mr. Ring, a Wells Fargo underwriter with authority to modify the loan. This practice is longstanding and accepted, as endorsed in *Savage*. *Savage* 2019 WL 625701, at *1.

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